
407 

Monetary Offices, Treasury § 92.15 

(1) That person uses in connection 
with, or as a part of, any advertise-
ment, solicitation, business activity, or 
product, whether alone or with other 
words, letters, symbols, or emblems— 

(i) The words ‘‘Department of the 
Treasury,’’ ‘‘United States Mint,’’ or 
‘‘U.S. Mint’’; 

(ii) The titles ‘‘Secretary of the 
Treasury,’’ ‘‘Treasurer of the United 
States,’’ ‘‘Director of the United States 
Mint,’’ or ‘‘Director of the U.S. Mint’’; 

(iii) The abbreviations or initials of 
any entity or title referred to in para-
graph (a)(1)(i) or (a)(1)(ii) of this sec-
tion; 

(iv) Any symbol, emblem, seal, or 
badge of an entity referred to in para-
graph (a)(1)(i) of this section (including 
the design of any envelope, stationery, 
or identification card used by such an 
entity); or 

(v) Any colorable imitation of any 
such words, titles, abbreviations, ini-
tials, symbols, emblems, seals, or 
badges; and 

(2) That person’s use is in a manner 
that could reasonably be interpreted or 
construed as conveying the false im-
pression that such advertisement, so-
licitation, business activity, or product 
is in any manner approved, endorsed, 
sponsored, authorized by, or associated 
with the United States Mint, or any of-
ficer, or employee thereof. 

(b) Disclaimers. Any determination of 
whether a person has violated the pro-
visions of paragraph (a) of this section 
shall be made without regard to any 
use of a disclaimer of affiliation with 
the United States Government or any 
particular agency or instrumentality 
thereof. 

(c) Civil penalty. The assessing offi-
cial may impose a civil penalty on any 
person who violates the provisions of 
paragraph (a) of this section. The 
amount of a civil penalty shall not ex-
ceed $5,000 for each and every use of 
any material in violation of paragraph 
(a) of this section, except that such 
penalty shall not exceed $25,000 for 
each and every use if such use is in a 
broadcast or telecast. 

(d) Time limitations. (1) Civil penalties 
imposed under the procedures in this 
subpart must be assessed before the 
end of the three-year period beginning 
on the date of offense. 

(2) The assessing official may com-
mence a civil action to recover or en-
force any civil penalty imposed in a 
Final Notice of Assessment issued pur-
suant to § 92.17 at any time before the 
end of the two-year period beginning 
on the date of the Final Notice of As-
sessment. If judicial review of the 
Final Notice of Assessment is sought, 
the two-year period begins to run from 
the date that a final and unappealable 
court order is issued. 

(e) Criminal Proceeding. No civil pen-
alty may be imposed under the proce-
dures in this subpart with respect to 
any violation of paragraph (a) of this 
section after a criminal proceeding on 
the same violation has been com-
menced by indictment or information 
under 31 U.S.C. 333(d). 

§ 92.14 Initiation of action. 
(a) When an employee of the United 

States Mint learns of or discovers a po-
tential violation of 31 U.S.C. 333 or this 
subpart, he or she will refer the mat-
ter, with all available evidence, to the 
assessing official. 

(b) The assessing official will con-
sider relevant factors when deter-
mining whether to initiate an action to 
impose a civil penalty under the proce-
dures in this subpart. Those factors 
may include, but are not limited to, 
the following: 

(1) The scope of the misuse; 
(2) The purpose and/or nature of the 

misuse; 
(3) The extent of the harm caused by 

the misuse; 
(4) The circumstances of the misuse; 
(5) The commercial benefit intended 

to be derived from the misuse; and 
(6) The repeated nature of the mis-

use. 
(c) If the assessing official decides to 

initiate an action to impose a civil 
penalty under the procedures in this 
subpart, he or she will, in writing: 

(1) Appoint an examining official; 
and 

(2) Delegate to the examining official 
the authority to prepare, sign, and 
serve an Initial Notice of Assessment 
on behalf of the assessing official. 

§ 92.15 Initial notice of assessment. 
The examining official shall review 

all immediately available evidence on 
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the matter; determine a proposed civil 
penalty based on the factors listed 
under § 92.16(d)(2)(iii); and prepare and 
serve an Initial Notice of Assessment 
by United States mail or other means 
upon the person believed to be in viola-
tion of § 92.13 and otherwise subject to 
a civil penalty. The notice shall pro-
vide the name and telephone number of 
the examining official, who can provide 
information concerning the notice and 
the procedures in this subpart. The no-
tice shall include the following: 

(a) A specific reference to the provi-
sions of § 92.13 violated; 

(b) A concise statement of the facts 
that support the conclusion that such a 
violation occurred; 

(c) The amount of the civil penalty 
proposed and the maximum amount of 
the potential civil penalty that the as-
sessing official could impose; 

(d) A notice informing the person al-
leged to be in violation of § 92.13 that 
he or she: 

(1) May, within 30 days of the date of 
the notice, pay the proposed civil pen-
alty, thereby waiving the right to 
make a written response under § 92.16 
and to seek judicial review under 
§ 92.18: 

(i) By electronic funds transfer (EFT) 
in accordance with instructions pro-
vided by the examining official in the 
Initial Notice of Assessment; or 

(ii) By means other than EFT only 
with the written approval of the assess-
ing official; 

(2) May make a written response in 
accordance with § 92.16 within 30 days 
of the date of the notice addressing, as 
appropriate: 

(i) Why a civil penalty should not be 
imposed; and 

(ii) Why a civil penalty should be in 
a lesser amount than proposed. 

(3) May be represented by an attor-
ney or other representative, provided 
that a designation of representative 
signed by the person alleged to be in 
violation is received by the examining 
official; and 

(4) May request, within 20 days of the 
date of the notice, a copy of or oppor-
tunity to review any documents and/or 
other evidence that the United States 
Mint compiled and relied on in deter-
mining to issue the notice (the assess-
ing official reserves the right to assert 

privileges available under law and may 
decline to disclose certain documents 
and/or other evidence protected by 
such privileges; however, any docu-
ments or other evidence withheld from 
disclosure shall be expunged from the 
record and shall not be considered by 
the examining and assessing officials 
in arriving at their respective rec-
ommendations and decisions); and 

(e) An advisement of the following: 
(1) If no written response is received 

within the time allowed in § 92.16(b), a 
Final Notice of Assessment may be 
issued without a presentation by the 
person; 

(2) If a written response has been 
made and the examining official deems 
it necessary, the examining official 
may request, orally or in writing, addi-
tional information from the respond-
ent; 

(3) A Final Notice of Assessment may 
be issued in accordance with § 92.17 re-
quiring that the proposed civil penalty 
be paid; 

(4) A Final Notice of Assessment is 
subject to judicial review in accord-
ance with 5 U.S.C. 701 et seq.; and 

(5) All submissions sent in response 
to the Initial Notice of Assessment 
must be transmitted to the address 
specified in the notice and include the 
name, address, and telephone number 
of the respondent. 

§ 92.16 Written response. 

(a) Form and contents. (1) The written 
response submitted by a person pursu-
ant to § 92.15(d)(2) must provide the fol-
lowing: 

(i) A reference to and specific identi-
fication of the Initial Notice of Assess-
ment involved; 

(ii) The full name of the person 
against whom the Initial Notice of As-
sessment has been made; 

(iii) If the respondent is not a natural 
person, the name and title of the offi-
cer authorized to act on behalf of the 
respondent; and 

(iv) If a representative of the person 
named in the Initial Notice of Assess-
ment is filing the written response, a 
copy of the duly executed designation 
as representative. 

(2) The written response must admit 
or deny each violation of § 92.13 set 
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